I. INTRODUCTION 

This case involves the unlawful incarceration of an elderly 

defendant. Forty-one years ago, John Thomas Music Music was 

convicted of sodomy. That sodomy statute is unconstitutional on its 

face and as applied. Music has been incarcerated since 1969. He is 

being punished because of a long-abandoned law, one that has been 

ruled unconstitutional by the U.S. Supreme Court. Only this Court 

can end that unconstitutional punishment. 

The decision below is a radical departure from the rule oflaw. 

Rather than considering the charge against Music and the jury's 

verdict, the court of appeals engaged in extra-record fact-finding. 

That fact-finding relied solely on inadmissible evidence. The 

decision relies on an affidavit from Music's former criminal defense 

counsel. Not only was this affidavit made against Music's interests in 

violation ofRPC 1.9, it contains only hearsay: recollections from 

forty years ago by an elderly man who long ago decided he could no 

longer practice law. Those recollections were never subject to cross

examination, and no authority for their admission was cited by the 

court of appeals. The prosecutor's office also violated the RPCs by 

requesting that another lawyer violate the RPCs and offer testimony 

against the interest of a former client. Since Music's conviction is 

based solely on inadmissible evidence, it cannot stand. 
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The court of appeals created a new crime, took evidence, and 

then convicted Music. That crime, "forcible sodomy," has never been 

enacted in Washington. Washington's sodomy statute did not 

reference coercion. In Music's criminal case, the jury was not asked 

ifthe conduct was coercive. The state admitted below that "consent 

was a non-issue" at trial. The state also admitted below that it could 

have charged Music with a different crime, like rape or assault, but 

did not because it would "confus[e] the jury" to present evidence of 

coercion. But there is no exception to the rule oflaw for cases that 

are difficult to prove. Indeed, the state's concession that it would 

have been difficult to prove coercion is exactly why the court of 

appeals erred in finding coercion: a jury must convict based on 

evidence presented. 

In 2016, no one should be punished because of a sodomy 

conviction. The court of appeals' error means Music is being 

punished for sodomy. That decision must be overturned. 

II. IDENTTIY OF PETmONER 

John Thomas Music asks this court to accept review of the 

court of appeals' decision terminating review, attached as Appendix 

A to this petition. 

2 



III. COURT OF APPEALS DECISION 

A copy of the decision, No. 33285-3-111, is in Appendix A. 

The decision was entered on April 28, 2016. The state moved to 

publish on May 6, 2016. Appendix B. 

IV. ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW 

1. The United States Supreme Court has declared that 

general sodomy laws such as Washington's sodomy statute 

are, and were in 1975, unconstitutional on their face. Is 

the Supreme Court's opinion binding on Washington 

courts? 

2. Where a criminal statute is facially unconstitutional, may 

a court affirm a conviction based on elements that were 

not presented to the jury? 

3. Where a criminal statute is facially unconstitutional, may 

a court affirm a conviction based on evidence that was 

obtained in violation ofthe Rules of Professional 

Conduct? 
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4. May a court affirm a conviction solely based on hearsay 

evidence that was never submitted to the jury, was never 

subject to cross-examination, and which fits no recognized 

exception to hearsay rule? 

V. STATEMENT OF THE CASE 

This case is about a conviction for sodomy. The sodomy 

occurred while John Thomas Music was in prison. Music was 

charged with sodomy. The jury was presented with jury instructions 

that tracked the elements in Washington's sodomy statute. The jury 

convicted Music of sodomy. The jury made no finding regarding 

coercion. 

In 2010, after decades in prison, Music was paroled on other 

charges. CP 36. After his parole, he began serving his sentence for 

sodomy. 

A The underlying conviction 

In 1975, Music was charged with sodomy for "willfully, 

unlawfully, and feloniously [knowing] a human being and male 

person over the age of 15 years, with mouth and tongue, and 

[Defendant] did further know John Mathers per anus."1 The jury 

1 Prosecutor's Information No. 64918, Walla Walla County 
Superior Court, Jan. 10,1975, CP 13; RCW 9.79.100 (1974). The sodomy 
statute under which Mr. Music was convicted, RCW 9.79.100, was 
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instructions did not ask whether the conduct was consensual. CP 15. 

The jury instructions made no reference to coercion. CP 15-30. The 

jury instructions made no reference to the act occurring in prison. 

CP 15-30. 

Below, the the state conceded that under the laws in place in 

1975, forcible sodomy could be charged as rape. Appellant opening 

briefbefore the court of appeals at 13. No charge of rape or assault 

was brought at the time or at any time since. 

Music was convicted of sodomy on April 23, 1975. CP 32. 

Music was sentenced to 772 years, to be served consecutively to his 

previous sentences. CP 34. Music was paroled on his previous life 

sentence and began serving his sodomy sentence on July 30, 2010. 

CP36. 

B. Proceedings before the Superior Court 

The Superior Court vacated Music's sodomy conviction by 

written order on March 18, 2015. CP 122-23. The Superior Court 

found it had jurisdiction under CrR 7.8 and RCW 10.73.090 and 

.100. CP 122. The Superior Court found that "RCW 10.73.100(2) 

removes the time-bar for a motion to set aside a conviction that is 

based on a statute that is unconstitutional on its face." CP 123. 

Finding that laches did not apply, and that Lawrence compelled a 

repealed on July 1, 1976. (Repealed by Laws 1975, 1st Ex. Sess., Ch. 260 § 
9a.92.010). 
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finding that the sodomy statute is (and was) unconstitutional, the 

court had "little choice but to grant" Music's motion. CP 123. The 

Superior Court held that Music "was not" charged or convicted of 

another crime such as rape or assault, and, "notwithstanding its 

abhorrence of the act-this Court cannot pretend that he was." CP 

123. 

C. Proceedings before the Court of Appeals 

Before the court of appeals, the state conceded that it could 

have charged Music with rape. State's court of appeal br. at 13. 

Because it charged Music with sodomy, the state argued that 

"consent was a non-issue." I d. 

The court of appeals ruled that Texas v. Lawrence, 539 U.S. 

558 (2003) did not facially invalidate invalidate Washington's 

sodomy statute. Appendix 10-11. The court of appeals wrote that "it 

appears the [sodomy] statute was used in cases of assaultive 

conduct, frequently involving children." Appendix 11. The court then 

ruled that Music had to prove that the conduct was consensual. 

Appendix 12. Since his former attorney's testimony-obtained in 

violation of the RPCs and recalled 40 years after the events-and a 

newspaper article offered some evidence that the sodomy was not 

consensual, the court of appeals ruled that Music's claim failed. 

Appendix 12. The court of appeals never discusses the elements of 

sodomy as presented to the jury. 
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The state moved to publish, arguing that the decision should 

be published "as a reminder ... to make no assumptions when 

researching what the actual issues are." Appendix B at 2. 

VI. ARGUMENT WHY REVIEW SHOULD BE ACCEPTED 

The United States Supreme Court held in Texas v. Lawrence 

that general sodomy statutes are unconstitutional. Music was 

convicted under the Washington general sodomy statute. The statute 

outlawed all sodomy. Music was not charged with assault or rape. 

The court of appeals ruled that the sodomy statute is constitutional 

as applied to Music because Music was "really" convicted for coercive 

sodomy. 

In overturning the trial court, the court of appeals made two 

errors oflaw. First, a court may not save a facially invalid statute by 

holding that the jury would, beyond a reasonable doubt, have 

convicted the defendant of a hypothetical crime that was not passed 

by the legislature and was not decided by the jury. Where "a 

defendant is convicted of a nonexistent crime, the judgment and 

sentence is invalid on its face." In re Pers. Restraint of Hinton, 152 

Wn.2d 853, 857, 100 P.3d 801 (2004). 

The United States and Washington Constitutions require that 

all "essential elements" of the crime-whether statutory or 

nonstatutory-be pleaded in the information and proved beyond a 
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reasonable doubt. State v. Vangerpen, 125 Wn.2d 782,787, 888 P.2d 

1177 (1995). The to-convict instruction must also contain all 

essential elements, State v. Smith, 131 Wn.2d 258, 263,930 P.2d 917 

(1997), and "a reviewing court may not rely on other instructions to 

supply the element missing from the 'to convict' instruction." State v. 

DeRyke, 149 Wn.2d 906,910,73 P.3d 1000 (2003) 

Here, coercion was an "essential element" of the crime. The 

jury was not instructed on coercion or asked to find coercion. If 

there was coercion, Music could have been charged with assault. 

Below, the state argued that it would have been hard to prove to 

coercion, but failed to cite any authority that difficulty in convincing 

a jury excused proving all the elements of a crime. This Court should 

reject the state's prosecutoriallaziness defense of Music's 

unconstitutional conviction. 

Second, to find coercion, the court of appeals did not refer to 

the record. Instead, it relied on hearsay. The "hearsay rule precludes 

admission of out-of-court statements to prove the truth of the fact 

asserted, except as provided by the Rules of Evidence, court rules, or 

statute." State v. Davis, 141 Wn.2d 798, 842, 10 P.3d 977 (2000). 

The court of appeals did not even use the word hearsay, much less 

justifY its use of testimony that the trial court had rejected. Most of 

the hearsay was given by Music's former defense counsel. That 
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lawyer violated the Rules of Professional Conduct in giving his 

testimony. RPC 1.9. The state violated the Rules of Professional 

Conduct by inducing another to violate the RPCs. RPC 8.4(a). The 

state, in its motion to publish, admitted the "actual issues" decidedby 

the court of appeals to be distinct from the conviction in the record. 

Appendix B at 2. The testimony was also completely unreliable, 

untested by cross-examination, and was created forty years after the 

events. 

A Washington's 1975 Sodomy Statute is Unconstitutional 
Under Lawrence 

1. Lawrence outlawed general prohibitions on 
sodomy 

In Lawrence, the Court examined "the validity of a Texas 

statute making it a crime for two persons of the same sex to engage 

in certain intimate sexual conduct." Lawrence, 539 U.S. at 578. The 

Court's opinion begins and ends with the facial constitutionality of 

the Texas statute. The holding is clear: "The Texas statute furthers 

no legitimate state interest which can justifY intrusion into the 

personal and private life ofthe individual." Id. Lawrence"held that a 

state cannot enact laws that criminalize homosexual sodomy. 

Lawrence is a new substantive rule and is thus retroactive." Muth v. 

Frank, 412 F.3d 808, 817 (7th Cir. 2005). 

The Lawrence Court also contemplated, in dicta, about 

actions that a legislature might regulate: "The present case does not 
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involve minors. It does not involve persons who might be injured or 

coerced or who are situated in relationships where consent might 

not easily be refused. It does not involve public conduct or 

prostitution." 539 U.S. at 578. 

The court of appeals relied on that dicta to hold that Music's 

conviction fell under these possible exceptions-although these 

exceptions did not exist at the time of his conviction. The state chose 

not to charge Music with rape or assault.2 

The dicta about the situations in which sodomy may be 

criminalized helps explain what kinds of existing statutes could 

survive Lawrence and guides the Legislature in writing future 

statutes. But Washington's sodomy law did not have any of these 

qualifiers. The Supreme Court struck down a sodomy law 

indistinguishable from Washington's. That means Music's 

conviction cannot stand. 

While Lawrence does not apply to prison rape, Music was not 

charged or convicted of prison rape-or rape of any variety-and the 

record contains no substantive evidence that rape occurred. Rather, 

2 It was possible, and perhaps common, to combine a sodomy charge with 
an assault charge if there was coercion. See, e.g., State v. Harp, 13 Wn. 
App. 239, 240, 534 P.2d 842, 843 (1975) (defendant was convicted of two 
counts of first degree assault, rape, and sodomy); State v. Ragan, 22 Wn. 
App. 591 (1979) (conviction for sodomy and assault in the second degree). 
See also footnote 6, below. 

10 



the issue before this Court is precisely the issue considered and 

decided by Lawrence. This case and Lawrence are about the 

constitutionality of general sodomy statutes. 

The cases confirm Music's analysis of Lawrence. In 

MacDonald v. Moose, the court analyzed a general sodomy 

prohibition. MacDonald considered whether a predicate conviction 

for "carnal knowledge," that is, Virginia's general sodomy statute, 

survived Lawrence. The court held it did not. 710 F.3d 154, 163 (4th 

Cir.) cert. denied, 134 S. Ct. 200, 187 L. Ed. 2d 45 (2013). 

In considering the Lawrence Court's "ruminations concerning 

the circumstances under which a state might permissibly outlaw 

sodomy," MacDonald noted that the Court "no doubt contemplated 

deliberate action by the people's representatives, rather than by the 

judiciary." I d. at 164. In other words, the legislature passes laws; the 

courts construe laws, but may not create new crimes. I d. at 167 

(citing Supreme Court precedent condemning such judicial 

intervention); Hinton, 152 Wn.2d at 857 (holding that where "a 

defendant is convicted of a nonexistent crime, the judgment and 

sentence is invalid on its face"). 

Below, the state conceded that it could have charged rape in 

1975. Appellant's Br. at 13. The court of appeals says that it could 

not, appendix A at 7-8, but that confusion only reinforces how hard 
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it is to relitigate this case today; to search, as the court of appeals 

did, for some reason outside the record to uphold the conviction, 

through the haze of time and in spite of Lawrence, is arbitrary and 

capricious. 

The state admits it did not try to prove coercion because it 

would have been more difficult to prove. State opening briefbefore 

court of appeals at 12-13 (demonstrating coercion had "strong 

potential to confuse the jury"). 

In MacDonald, the state argued that "Lawrence did not 

establish the unconstitutionality of solicitation statutes generally" or 

MacDonald's actions in particular. Id. at 161. The state also argued 

"MacDonald lacks standing to pursue a facial challenge to the anti-

sodomy provision ... because the provision can be constitutionally 

applied in various circumstances, including those underlying this 

appeal." !d. Both arguments failed in MacDonald and they fail here. 

Finally, MacDonald examined the Texas and Georgia statutes 

and found that, like Washington's sodomy statute, they were 

unenforceable under Lawrence. The Washington statute considered 

here is substantively identical to statutes that have been found to be 

unconstitutional. 3 

3 See Respondent's brief before the court of appeals at 21-22 (analyzing the 
elements of the Georgia, Washington, and Texas sodomy laws). 
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Notwithstanding Lawrence and notwithstanding that Music 

was not charged or convicted of coercive sodomy, the court of 

appeals looked to extra-record evidence evidence proffered forty 

years after trial and decided that Music was, in fact, guilty of 

coercive sodomy. 

The court of appeals did not address the threshold and 

fundamental fact that Music was not charged with or convicted of 

coercive sodomy at trial. Nor did the court of appeals address the 

foundational legal principle that an accused cannot be punished for 

a crime of which he was not given notice, an opportunity to defend 

against, and where the jury did not return a verdict based on a 

necessary element (coercion). 

In lieu of a jury verdict finding coercive sodomy, the court of 

appeals, in effect, retried the case and found Music guilty of coercive 

sodomy based on a forty year old newspaper article and an affidavit 

of a defendant's own lawyer. That is error, as MacDonald shows. 

MacDonald involved sodomy involving minors, which, of 

course, may be outlawed. What a court cannot do, however, is 

salvage a general sodomy statute by saying that "if an exception to 

the law existed, it would be constitutional," when that exception 

would require proving an element that was not presented to the jury. 

Music is not arguing that coercive sodomy cannot be legislatively 
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prohibited. But here, the statute did not provide for any such 

qualification. Music was never charged with or convicted of coercive 

sodomy. The court of appeals erred in trying and holding Music 

accountable for a crime with which he was never charged. 

2. Washington's sodomy statute outlawed sodomy 
between adults, with no reference to consent, and that 
law is unconstitutional on its face. 

"A facial challenge is an attack on a statute itself as opposed 

to a particular application." City of Los Angeles, Cali£ v. Patel, 135 S. 

Ct. 2443, 2449 (2015). "[I]n considering a facial challenge, we 

analyze the statutory language itself and do not rely on the facts of 

the case." Parmelee v. O'Neel, 145 Wn. App. 223, 235, 186 P.3d 

1094, 1100 (2008) rev'd in part, 168 Wn.2d 515, 229 P.3d 723 

(2010), as corrected (May 27, 2010). 

Parmelee holds that "when a statute is facially 

unconstitutional, it follows that no set of circumstances exist in 

which the statute, as currently written, can be constitutionally 

applied." Id. at 242-43. The United States Supreme Court has ruled 

that sodomy statutes such as Washington's were unconstitutional. 

Just as in Parmalee, the court "need not determine whether 

Washington's statutory scheme is unconstitutional as applied to 

[Music] because the statutory scheme is facially unconstitutional." 

I d. at 246. Parmelee relies on Houston v. Hill, 482 U.S. 451, 459 
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(1987) for the proposition that "Criminal statutes must be 

scrutinized with particular care ... those that make unlawful a 

substantial amount of constitutionally protected conduct may be 

held facially invalid even if they also have legitimate application." 

That is the case here. 

Even if this Court rejects a facial challenge, the trial court 

decision must be upheld because the law was unconstitutional as 

applied to Music. We know how the law was applied in Music's case: 

we have the jury instructions, and we know that coercion was not 

presented to the jury. The jury decided only whether Music 

"willfully" engaged in sodomy. CP 20 (instruction 4). Willfully was 

defined as "intentionally and purposefully and not accidentally." CP 

19 (Instruction 3). The jury was not instructed on consent, or the 

significance of Music being a prisoner. CR 15-30 (full set of jury 

instructions). Under the instructions given, any two Washingtonians 

who engaged in sodomy and did so "not accidentally" would have 

been found guilty. Under Lawrence, the sodomy statute was 

unconstitutional at the time Music was convicted. The State's jury 

instructions took advantage of the generalness of the sodomy statute 

and allowed the jury to convict simply if the sodomy was not 

accidental. The statute as applied to Music through the jury 

instructions was unconstitutional. 

15 



3. Lawrence is retroactive 

Lawrence "held that a state cannot enact laws that criminalize 

homosexual sodomy. Lawrence is a new substantive rule and is thus 

retroactive." Muth, 412 F.3d at 817. Since Washington's sodomy law 

is unconstitutional, Music is serving an illegal sentence. "If it would 

be unconstitutional to punish a person for an act that cannot be 

subject to criminal penalties it is no less unconstitutional to keep a 

person in prison for committing the same act." Id. 

Washington courts follow the federal retroactivity analysis. 

State v. Evans, 154 Wn.2d 438,444,114 P.3d 627 (2005) (noting 

that retroactive application is granted where "(a) the new rule places 

certain kinds of primary, private individual conduct beyond the 

power of the state to proscribe ... "). Here, the rule announced in 

Lawrence places sodomy beyond the power of the state to proscribe 

and is plainly retroactive. 

The "state cannot give legal effect to a conviction under an 

unconstitutional criminal statute." Green v. Georgia, 51 F. Supp. 3d 

1304, 1313 (N.D. Ga. 2014) (granting habeas relief for conviction 

under Georgia's general sodomy statute). The action in Green 

considered the use of a sodomy conviction as an element to the 

crime of failing to register as a sex offender. As with Music, Green 

was convicted before Lawrence was decided. The Green court wrote 

that "Just as it is unthinkable that a conviction of miscegenation 
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entered before Loving v. Virginia, 388 U.S. 1 [] (1967), was decided 

could be used after that decision to establish an element of a crime," 

it is unthinkable to uphold a sodomy conviction entered "before ... 

Lawrence was decided ... " Id. at 1316. As in Green, Music was 

convicted of sodomy prior to the Lawrence decision. Because there 

was no proof of coercion, Music's conviction cannot stand. 

B. The court of appeals relied on inadmissible evidence 

The affidavit of Music's former criminal defense attorney 

purports to recreate a record from memory forty years after the fact. 

His assertions are not only inherently unreliable, they violate Music's 

right to confidentiality under the Washington Rules of Professional 

Conduct. 

A la·wyer who has formerly represented a client in a 
matter or whose present or former firm has formerly 
represented a client in a matter shall not thereafter .. 
. use information relating to the representation to the 
disadvantage of the former client except as these 
Rules would permit or require vvith respect to a 
client. 

RPC 1.9(c). The state's actions in obtaining the declaration are a 

separate violation ofthe RPCs. RPC 8.4(a) ("It is professional 

misconduct for a lawyer to: (a) ... knowingly assist or induce 

another to [violate the Rules of Professional Conduct]."). 

Under RPC 1.9 "former clients need not prove that actual 

confidences were divulged." Teja v. Saran, 68 Wn. App. 793, 799-
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800 (1993). There is no question that Music is prejudiced: the court 

of appeals relied on "the affidavit of an attorney" who represented 

Music in the criminal case. Appendix A at 12. 

The court of appeals ruled that Washington's sodomy statute was 

not used to punish to consensual sodomy. That is not supported by 

the historical record, and would shock gay rights groups, which were

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