RECEIVED SUPREME COURT STATE OF WASHINGTON CLERK'S OFFICE

Jun 17, 2016, 12:21 pm

RECEIVED ELECTRONICALLY

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

SUPREME COURT No. 93209-3

COURT OF APPEALS No. 332853-3-III

STATE OF WASHINGTON,

Respondent

V.

JOHN THOMAS MUSIC,

Petitioner

Corrected

ANSWER TO PETITION
AND
CROSS-PETITION FOR REVIEW

Respectfully submitted:

By: Nicholas A. Holce, WSBA#46576 Deputy Prosecuting Attorney James L. Nagle, WSBA#9637 Prosecuting Attorney 240 W. Alder, Ste. 201 Walla Walla, WA 99362

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

VI. ARGUMENT WHY REVIEW SHOULD BE DENIED

Music equates a prison gang rape with consensual homosexual relations. This is offensive and contrary to the principles and holding of *Lawrence v. Texas* which championed the dignity of same-sex couples and their sexual intimacy. The Court of Appeals' decision is not in conflict with *Lawrence* or with a decision of this Court or other Court of Appeals decisions. There is no significant question of law under the state or federal constitutions. The issue here is not likely to re-arise in Washington as the statutes being addressed were repealed forty years ago. Therefore, there are no grounds to accept review under RAP 13.4(b).

The Court of Appeals provided a thorough historical analysis of Washington's Sodomy statute, delving into legislative history, statutory amendments, and terms of art. Based on that court's considerable research, the court concluded both Music and the State erred in assuming Music could have been tried for rape in 1974. *State v. Music*, No. 33285-3-III, at 6 n.8.

Although Music phrases his introduction to imply that he has been serving an unjust sentence for sodomy since 1969, Petition for Review, at 1, the reality is that he has been serving a sentence for murder since then, and he has only begun serving his sentence for sodomy in 2010. Music next asserts that the Court of Appeals entered into a fact-finding, implying

that the court was retrying Music, despite the fact that the Court of Appeals was merely performing the factual analysis required for a constitutional challenge. Music also accuses a long-seated and recently retired superior court judge of being "an elderly man who long ago decided he could no longer practice law," Petition for Review, at 1, impugning Judge Schacht's memory, his integrity, and his work ethic. Music then seems to rely on trial court rules of evidence to argue that public records may not be used to provide the factual background of the original conviction. Next, Music argues that the Court of Appeals' explanation of the Sodomy statute as it existed in 1974 amounts to the Court of Appeals creating a new crime. Music appears to get hung up on the word "sodomy" and asserts that any statute with that word is necessarily unconstitutional, irrespective of what the statute is actually criminalizing. Taken individually or collectively, none of the "issues" raised in the Introduction provide grounds to support any of the four considerations this Court considers under RAP 13.4(b), and therefore the petition should be denied.

A. State's Conditional Cross-Appeal: Music's Motion is Time-Barred Under the Equitable Doctrine of Laches

If the Court accepts review of this case, the threshold issue is whether Music is time-barred from raising constitutional issues under the doctrine of laches. Laches is an equitable doctrine based on estoppel. A defending party asserting the doctrine of laches must affirmatively establish: (1) knowledge by the moving party of facts constituting a cause of action or a reasonable opportunity to discover such facts; (2) unreasonable delay by the moving party in commencing an action; and (3) damage to defending party resulting from the delay in bringing the action. See, e.g., Davidson v. State, 116 Wn.2d 13, 25, 802 P.2d 1374 (1991). This doctrine is applicable to collateral attacks on criminal judgments. See generally Fay v. Noia, 372 U.S. 391, 438, 9 L. Ed. 2d 837, 83 S. Ct. 822, 848-49 (1963); Harris v. Vasquez, 949 F.2d 1497 (9th Cir. 1990), cert. denied, 112 S. Ct. 1275 (1992); Harris v. Pulley, 885 F.2d 1354 (9th Cir. 1988), cert. denied, 493 U.S. 151 (1990). The most common prejudice to the defending party caused by a moving party's delay is the unavoidable loss of evidence. Davidson, 116 Wn.2d at 26. In Davidson, the plaintiff waited sixty-two years before challenging harbor lines drawn in 1921. *Id.* The court there recognized that "[a]ll those who surveyed, drew, and established the harbor area are now deceased," and no one could find "firsthand documents setting forth the basis for the placement of the lines." Id. at 26-27.

Applying the elements laid out in *Davidson*, laches is an appropriate remedy to bar Music's motion to vacate judgment. First,

Lawrence v. Texas was decided in 2003, meaning Respondent has had over a decade to consider and pursue avenues opened by the United States Supreme Court's decision. Second, Music's motivation for the motion to vacate was presumably the parole order that took effect July 30, 2010. He has waited nearly five years since that date to bring the above motion. Third, and most importantly, most records relating to Music's case and conviction have been destroyed long ago pursuant to common records-keeping practices. The State had to find newspaper articles and obtain an affidavit from an attorney who was present for the trial to recreate the facts. Music asserted in Defendant's Reply that the State was "disingenuous at best" for using what resources it could find, implying that newspapers and affidavits are unreliable, but it is unclear how the State could otherwise recreate the facts of the case since the transcripts have long ago been destroyed, along with most other records.

Concededly, even if Music had brought a motion to vacate immediately after *Lawrence* was decided, the records likely would still not have existed since the underlying offense would still have been over thirty years old in 2003. Nevertheless, the delay has further reduced the likelihood that anyone linked to the case is available or capable of responding. Music effectively agrees with this assertion by arguing that when the Honorable Judge Donald Schacht stated in his Affidavit that "I

recall vividly the victim, John Mathers, testifying," Affidavit of Hon.

Donald W. Schacht, CP 112, what he *actually* meant to say was all he had were "hazy recollections of a trial 40 years ago." Defendant's Response to State's Motion for Reconsideration, CP 126. Thus, according to Music, Judge Schacht's recollections are "hazy" — not "vivid," as he himself asserts. If the Court accepts Music's interpretation of Judge Schacht's statement, then laches should apply because the matter should have been brought a decade ago when Judge Schacht's "hazy" recollections would have been harder to impugn. According to Music's own argument, the only witness the State can find cannot adequately recollect necessary information for the State to respond. Therefore, the challenge should be time-barred.

To reiterate, review of this issue is only necessary if the Court accepts review, and the State does not intend to submit this matter to the Court for review if the Music's petition is denied outright.

B. Answer to Petition for Review Issues 1-2: Review Should be Denied Because Washington's Sodomy Statute Has Never Been Found to be Facially Unconstitutional, and It Is Constitutional As Applied to Music

Music asserts Washington's Sodomy statute is facially unconstitutional. To prove facial unconstitutionality, there must be no circumstances under which the statute could be constitutionally applied.

Parmelee v. O'Neel, 145 Wn. App. 223, 242, 186 P.3d 1094 (2008) reversed on other grounds, 168 Wn.2d 515; City of Redmond v. Moore, 151 Wn.2d 664, 668-69, 91 P.3d 875 (2004). Further, unless the issue turns on First Amendment freedoms, courts "will only consider whether a statute is constitutional as applied to the facts of the case." In re Dependency of C.B., 79 Wn. App. 686, 689, 904 P.2d 1171 (1995) (citing State v. Carver, 113 Wn.2d 591, 599, 781 P.2d 1308, 789 P.2d 306 (1986)); Seattle v. Yeager, 67 Wn. App. 41, 44, 834 P.2d 73 (1992). In other words, in the absence of a First Amendment challenge, the facts are relevant. Sodomy is not speech, so the facts of this particular offense are relevant to the Court's analysis. Washington's Sodomy statute has never been found to be unconstitutional. Therefore, the statute must be reviewed with reference to the facts presented.

Here, Music argues that the statute is facially unconstitutional, but he then concedes that there are factual scenarios where it would be constitutional, such as with respect to children, who cannot consent. Petition for Review, at 19. Based on that concession alone, it is apparent that Washington's Sodomy statute is not facially unconstitutional since there are factual scenarios that exist to which the statute can be constitutionally applied. Further, Music argues that a conviction for sodomy, when imposed alongside an assault and a rape conviction, is

somehow not inappropriate, as if sandwiching an allegedly unconstitutional law between constitutional laws gives an imprimatur of propriety. Petition for Review, at 18. Washington's Sodomy statute needs to be analyzed with respect to its own merits: it should not be expected to stand based on the strength of additional charges. In any event, *Lawrence* v. *Texas* was not intended to extend to prison rape, and Washington's Sodomy statute was the sole means of prosecuting male-on-male sex offenses in 1974, and therefore, the statute, as applied to Music, was constitutional.

It is necessary to recognize the limited scope of *Lawrence v. Texas*. In *Lawrence v. Texas*, 539 U.S. 558, 123 S. Ct. 2472, 156 L.Ed.2d 508 (2003), the Supreme Court addressed consensual conduct that occurred in the privacy of the home. Central to the Court's holding was liberty and autonomy: two freedoms explicitly denied to prison inmates. *See Overton v. Bazzetta*, 539 U.S. 126, 131, 123 S. Ct. 2162, 156 L.Ed.2d 162 (2003) (recognizing legitimacy of limiting freedom of association between prison inmates); *People v. Santibanez*, 91 Cal. App.3d 287, 154 Cal.Rptr 74 (1979) (Inmates have "no absolute right to sexual privacy in jail.") (discussing reasons for restricting sexual contact in prison). Therefore, the issue addressed in *Lawrence* is not dispositive to the case at bar because no unsanctioned sexual conduct is allowed in prison — consensual or not.

California's Court of Appeals addressed this issue squarely:

Even if the homosexual relationship of consenting adults were deemed entitled to the cloak of privacy in life outside prison walls, appellant cannot don that cloak. It is common knowledge that homosexuality is the underlying cause of many instances of prison violence. To compel prison officials to afford privacy for such activities of inmates would be to dispel hope for discipline and order within the walls. Prisoners, of course, enjoy many constitutional guaranties, but the penumbral right of privacy enunciated in *Griswold* can have no more application in the setting here involved than could the right to bear arms (2nd Amendment to U.S.Const.).

People v. Frazier, 256 Cal. App.2d 630, 631, 64 Cal.Rptr. 447 (1967) (internal citation omitted). Therefore, the issue addressed in *Lawrence* was not intended to extend to penitentiaries.

Further, as the court in *U.S. v. Brewer*, 363 F. Supp. 606, 608-09 (M.D. Pa. 1973), *aff'd*, 491 F.2d 751 (3rd Cir. 1973), recognized, a defendant cannot raise the challenge on behalf of the general public or a hypothetical third party.

[O]ne to whom application of a statute is constitutional will not be heard to attack the statute on the ground that impliedly it might also be taken as applying to other persons or other situations in which its application might be unconstitutional.

Id. at 609 (quoting United States v. Raines, 362 U.S. 17, 21, 80 S. Ct. 519, 4 L.Ed.2d 524 (1960)) (internal quotation marks omitted). There are exceptions to this rule, as outlined in United States v. Raines, but the Brewer court found they did not apply.

The *Brewer* case is on all fours with the case at bar: the only difference is that while the defendant there demonstrated he had affirmative consent; Music had no such evidence. The *Brewer* court's analysis, even though fifty years old, is just as applicable today. Indeed, it even appears to have anticipated *Lawrence v. Texas.* 539 U.S. 558, 123 S Ct. 2475. Here, the exact same situation is before the Court. Like the *Brewer* court, this Court should ask: is Music the right person to challenge Washington's repealed Sodomy statute on behalf of *un*incarcerated people? The answer is "no" for the same reason.

C. Answer to Petition for Review Issue 3: The Honorable Judge Schacht's Affidavit Regarding Events That Occurred in Open Court Is Not Privileged Information

Music asserts that because the Honorable Judge Schacht was his defense attorney, Judge Schacht's affidavit regarding his observations from the open court proceedings are somehow a disclosure of private communications between client and counsel. Petition for Review, at 17. Under the Rules of Professional Conduct, a lawyer may relate information that has "become generally known." RPC 1.9(c)(1). Once a matter is on public record, it is generally known. Judge Schacht relayed information that was, at one point, on the record (even though that record has long since been destroyed per the court's standard record keeping practices). Since Judge Schacht did not disclose any confidential information,

Music's assertion fails, and information within the affidavit is properly before the Court.

D. Answer to Petition for Review Issue 4: This Appeal is Limited to Whether Washington's Sodomy Statute is Facially Unconstitutional: It Is Not a Time for Music to Appeal the Merits of His Case

Music seems to conflate the purpose of his appeal. Music argues that the statute that served as the basis for his conviction is facially unconstitutional, but then he also appears to argue the facts of the case, as if he expects this matter to be remanded for a new trial. The facts of this case are not up for debate. Neither the Superior Court nor the Court of Appeals did or could weigh evidence, exclude hearsay, or permit crossexamination of evidence. Here, Music went to trial and was convicted in 1975. Witnesses in the courtroom at the time included Dick Cockle of the Union-Bulletin and his then-defense attorney, Judge Schacht. Presumably, all witnesses were cross-examined ably, and all improper hearsay was excluded. Now, Music seems to be arguing that the records of that event are also hearsay subject to cross-examination. Music cites no authority supporting such a proposition.

As a general principle, a reviewing court will not consider matters outside the trial record in a direct appeal. *State v. McFarland*, 127 Wn.2d 322, 335, 899 P.2d 1251 (1995). However, this is not a direct appeal.

This is a collateral attack forty years after Music's conviction, which was not filed until almost all record and memory had disintegrated. Outside evidence may be considered within the context of a collateral attack. *Id.* It was not only appropriate and lawful for the Court of Appeals to consider these records because of the Music's impermissible delay and false representations of the nature of the case: it became a necessity.

VII. CONCLUSION

For the foregoing reasons, the State respectfully submits that the order to vacate judgment & sentence should be reversed.